

MINUTES OF THE

FOURTEENTH GENERAL ASSEMBLY

of

THE ORTHODOX PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH

Calvary Church

Cedar Grove, Wisconsin

May 22-28, 1947

THURSDAY, MAY 22

Thursday morning

The Moderator of the Thirteenth General Assembly, the Rev. Ned B. Stonehouse, Th.D., opened the devotional service preceding the Fourteenth General Assembly at 10:05 a. m., May 22, 1947 at the Calvary Church, Cedar Grove, Winscreen Strandard and Assembly at 10:05 a. eral Assembly at 10:05 a. m., May 22, 1947 at the Calvary Church, Cedar Grove, Wisconsin. Dr. Stonehouse preached a sermon based on Hebrews 4:16, "Let us therefore come boldly unto the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find grace to help in time of need." Following the sermon the sacrament of the Lord's Supper was administered by Dr. Stonehouse, assisted by the Rev. Lawrence R. Eyres and the Rev. J. Lyle Shaw, D.D., Ph.D., and by Elders Wil-liam Gaillard, Floyd C. Graf, Lewis Roberts, and Henry E. Wade.

Thursday afternoon

The Fourteenth General Assembly was called to order at 1:15 p.m. and constituted with prayer by Dr. Stonehouse. The roll was called by the Rev. Eugene Bradford, Clerk of the Thirteenth

General Assembly.

THE ROLL OF THE ASSEMBLY

Presbytery of California

Ministers: Carl A. Ahlfeldt, Robert K. Churchill, Lawrence R. Eyres, Robert H. Graham, John F. Gray, Robert E. Nicholas, Delbert E. Schowalter, Clifford S. Smith Elders: Henry E. Wade

Presbytery of the Dakotas Ministers: Calvin A. Busch, Louis E. Knowles, Walter J. Magee, W. Ben-son Male, Melvin B. Nonhof, Russell D. Piper, Reginald Voorhees Elders: C. W. Brown, George O. Cotton

- Presbytery of New Jersey
 Ministers: H. Wilson Albright, Herbert S. Bird, Bruce A. Coie, Alexander
 K. Davison, S.T.D., Everett C. DeVelde, Leslie A. Dunn, Donald C. Graham, Richard W. Gray, Lewis J. Grotenhuis, Edward Heerema, John C. Hills, Jr., Edward L. Kellogg, Roy F. Lambert, James W. Price, John P. Richmond
 Florence Constant Code Flored C. Croft A. B. Jockson, Matthew McCurdden
 - Elders: Carlisle Gale, Floyd C. Graf, A. R. Jackson, Matthew McCroddan, Frank Stiles

Presbytery of New York and New England

Ministers: Ralph E. Clough, John J. DeWaard, Burton L. Goddard, Th.D., Raymond M. Meiners, John Murray, Arthur O. Olson, Herman T. Peter-sen, John C. Rankin, John H. Skilton, Robert L. Vining, William Young Th.D.

Elders: Albert S. O'Brien

not found elsewhere in Paul ("manifested", "believed", "received"), and the statement of ideas which go beyond the requirements of the text. Another reason is "confessedly", in the clause introductory to the six balanced lines, implying that these words were a customary and familiar embodiment of gospel truth. Thus while there cannot be dogmatic certainty there is at least strong assurance that the best of all suggested interpretations is that which regards this passage as a hymn of praise, customarily employed in early Christian worship. If so, it is again an example of song, the materials of which are derived ex-plicitly from the New Testament revelation.

Conclusions

Although it does not appear that God has expressly commanded the New Testament Church to sing the Psalms, yet it may be asserted without any hesi-tation, on the ground of good and necessary consequence, that the frequent use of the Psalms by the New Testament Church is highly pleasing to Him. The Psalms were divinely inspired for the very purpose of praise. They are theo-centric in character, and worship is theocentric in its very essence. By the use of the Psalms in public worship the New Testament Church also gives expression to the ascential unity of the hedy of Christ in both dispensations. To be sure to the essential unity of the body of Christian both dispensations. To be sure, in scattered passages, the writers of the Psalms undertake vows in terms of

the observance of the ceremonial law, which observance has now been abrogated. But, without pronouncing judgment on the propriety of singing such passages, we may assert that unquestionably the content of the Psalms, by and large, is highly appropriate for the worship of God's covenant people today. It is also fitting, and honorable to God's Word, that the Psalms be available for song in versions that are not only as faithful as possible to the inspired text, but also expressed in language of beauty and clarity. In such versions the Psalms "ought to be used frequently in public worship," as our Directory for Worship provides.

Our worship of God is nothing else than our response to divine revelation.

Our worship of God is nothing else than our response to divine revelation. That is the very essence of Christian worship. How clear it is that New Testa-ment worship must be in response not only to God's revelation in the Old Testa-ment but also to His fuller revelation in the New Testament! The saints in the New Testament worshipped God thus—and in particular did they worship Him thus in song. They did not confine themselves in praise to a preliminary stage of revelation but adjusted the content of their songs to the full limit of completed revelation. We should do likewise. Again it may be said that true worship is our response to divine revelation under the controlling influence of the Holy Spirit. Where the Spirit of the Lord is, there is liberty. Most assuredly, where the Spirit of the Lord is, there is no license. True liberty is always liberty under law. Therefore we may wor-ship only in ways prescribed by the Word of God. But God's Word warrants the exercise of liberty in the content of prayer. Both by implication and by the approved examples of the New Testament saints it also warrants the exercise of liberty with regard to the content of song. The content of song, then, like the content of our prayer, need not be restricted to the very words of Scrip-ture, although it must be assuredly Scriptural in teaching. ture, although it must be assuredly Scriptural in teaching.

ROBERT S. MARSDEN, Chairman

MINORITY REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE ON SONG IN THE PUBLIC WORSHIP OF GOD

Submitted to the Fourteenth General Assembly Of the Orthodox Presbyterian Church

The above-mentioned committee presented to the Thirteenth General Assembly a report bearing upon the question of the regulative principle of worship. This principle is to the effect that divine warrant or authorization is required for every element entering into the worship of God. In the words of the Confession of Faith of this Church, "The acceptable way of worshipping the true God is instituted by Himself, and so limited by His own revealed will, that He may not be worshipped according to the imaginations and devices of men, or the suggestions of Satan, under any visible representation, or any other way not prescribed in the holy Scripture" (Chapt XXI, Sect. I).

In terms of the commission given by the Eleventh General Assembly and in accordance with the regulative principle set forth in the report of the committee, presented to the Thirteenth General Assembly, the question with which this report is concerned is: What does the Scripture warrant or prescribe respecting the songs that may be sung in the public worship of God? In dealing with this question it should be appreciated that the singing of

In dealing with this question it should be appreciated that the singing of God's praise is a distinct act of worship. It is to be distinguished, for example, from the reading of the Scripture and from the offering of prayer to God. It is, of course, true that songs of praise often include what is of the nature of prayer to God, as it is also true that in the offering of prayer to God there is much that is of the nature of praise and thanksgiving. But it is not proper to appeal to the divine authorization or warrant we possess as to the content of prayer in order to determine the question as to the content of song. **Prayer** is one element of worship, singing is another. Similarity or even identity of content does not in the least obliterate the distinction between these two specific kinds of exercise in the worship of God. Because of this distinction we may not say that the offering of prayer and the singing of praise to God are the same thing and argue from the divine authorization we possess respecting the one to the authorization respecting the other. One or two examples may be given of the necessity and importance of guarding the distinctiveness of the several parts of worship and of determining from the Scripture what its prescriptions are respecting each element.

Both reports submitted by this committee are agreed that some Scripture songs may be sung in the public worship of God. But these Scripture songs may also be **read** as Scripture and they may be used in preaching. In such cases the actual materials are the same. But **reading** the Scripture is not the same exercise of worship as **singing**, and neither is preaching the same as **singing**, or **reading** the Scripture. The same kind of distinction applies to the exercises of **praying** and **singing** even when the content is identical.

of praying and singing even when the content is identical. The Lord's Supper is an act of thanksgiving as well as one of commemoration and communion. But though the partaking of the bread and the wine includes thanksgiving, just as prayer and singing do, yet the celebration of the Lord's Supper is an act of worship distinct from both prayer and singing, and the divine prescriptions respecting the celebration of the Lord's Supper cannot be determined by the divine prescriptions regarding prayer or singing but must rather be derived from the revelation God has given respecting the observance of that distinct element of the worship of God.

Servance of that distinct element of the worship of God. Consequently the minority contends that the argument used in the report of the committee, to wit, that, since we are not limited in our prayers to the words of Scripture or to the "prayers" given us in Scripture, therefore the same freedom is granted in song, is invalid. We may not argue thus from the divine warrant respecting one element to the divine warrant respecting another. The question of the divine prescription regarding the songs that may be sung in the public worship of God must be answered, therefore, on the basis of the teaching of Scripture with respect to that specific element of worship.

When we address ourselves to the question of the teaching of Scripture we find that the New Testament does not provide us with copious instruction on this matter. It is for that reason that we are placed under the necessity of exercising great care lest we overstep the limits of divine authorization and warrant. This report will deal with the evidence that is directly germane to the question.

The Scripture Evidence

I. Matthew 26:30; Mark 14:26. Here we are told that, on the occasion of the passover, Jesus and His disciples sang a hymn before going out to the Mount of Olives. The Greek is humnesantes, which literally means "having hymned." The evidence available to us from other sources is to the effect of indicating that the hymn sung on this occasion was what is known as the Hallel, consisting of Psalms 113-118. This instance evinces the following facts.

(1) No warrant whatsoever can be adduced for the singing of uninspired hymns. There is no evidence that an uninspired hymn was sung on this occasion.

(2) The evidence we do possess evinces that Jesus and His disciples sang a portion of the psalter.

(3) The singing took place in connection with the celebration of the Old Testament sacrament of the Passover and the New Testament sacrament of the Lord's Supper.

II. I Corinthians 14:15,26. Paul is here dealing with the assembly of the saints for worship. He says, "I will sing with the spirit and I will sing with the understanding also" (vs. 15), "Each one hath a psalm" (vs. 26). From the verb that Paul uses in verse 15 we might quite properly translate as follows: "I will sing a psalm with the spirit and I will sing a psalm with the understanding also," just as in verse 26 he says, "Each one hath a psalm." We must conclude, therefore, that psalms were sung in the church at Corinth and such singing has, by obvious implication, the apostle's sanction and is confirmed by his example.

The question does arise: What were these psalms? It is possible that they were charismatic psalms. If so, one thing is certain—they were not uninspired compositions. If charismatic they were inspired or given by the Holy Spirit. If we today possessed such charismatic psalms, sung by the apostle himself in the assemblies of worship or sanctioned by him in the worship of the church, then we should have the proper authority for the use of them in the songs of the sanctuary. It so happens, however, that we do not have conclusive evidence to show that we have any of such alleged charismatic psalms. But even on the hypothesis that they were charismatic psalms and even on the hypothesis that we have examples of such in Acts 4:23-30; I Timothy 3:16, we are not thereby furnished with any authorization for the use of uninspired songs in the worship of God.

On the hypothesis that they were not charismatic psalms we have to ask, what were they? To answer this question we have simply to ask another: what songs in the usage of Scripture, fall into the category of psalms? There is one answer. The Book of Psalms is composed of psalms and, therefore, by the simplest principle of hermeneutics we can say that, in terms of Scripture language, the songs that are repeatedly called psalms perfectly satisfy the denotation and connotation of the word "psalm" as it is used here. If inspired Scripture says, "Each one hath a psalm," and Scripture also calls the "Psalms" psalms, then surely we may also sing a Psalm to the praise of God in His worship.

So far as these two texts are concerned we can say that they provide us with no warrant whatsoever for the use of uninspired hymns. We can also say that, since the psalms we possess in the psalter are certainly psalms in the terminology of Scripture itself, we are hereby provided with divine warrant for the singing of such in the worship of God. III. Ephesians 5:19; Colossians 3:16. With respect to these two texts it should be noted, first of all, that Paul is not necessarily referring to the public

III. Ephesians 5:19; Colossians 3:16. With respect to these two texts it should be noted, first of all, that Paul is not necessarily referring to the public worship of God. The context does not make clear that Paul is confining himself here to exhortation that concerns the behaviour of believers in relation to one another in the assemblies of worship. Paul may very well be giving general exhortation. Indeed, the context in both passages would appear to show that he is exhorting to a certain kind of exercise in which believers should engage in reference to one another in the discharge of that mutual instruction and edification requisite to concerted advancement of one another's highest interests and of the glory of God.

This consideration does not, however, remove these texts from relevancy to the question of the public worship of God. For, if Paul specifies psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs as the media through which believers may mutually promote the glory of God and one another's edification in those more generic Christian exercises, this fact has very close bearing upon the question of the apostolically sanctioned and authorized media of praise to God in the more specific worship of the sanctuary. In other words, if the apostolically enjoined media or materials of song in the more generic exercises of worship are psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs, then surely nothing inferior to psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs would be enjoined for use in the more specific exercises of worship in the assemblies of the church. If psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs are the limits of the materials of song in praise of God in less formal acts of worship, how much more are they the limits in more formal acts of worship. With respect to these two texts the following considerations are to be borne in mind.

(1) We cannot determine the denotation or connotation of psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs by any modern usage of these same words. The meaning and reference must be determined by the usage of Scripture.

(2) Some of the facts with reference to the usage of Scripture are very significant.

The word psalmos (psalm) occurs some 94 times in the Greek Scriptures, that is to say, some 87 times in the Septuagint version of the Old Testament and 7 times in the New Testament. In the Septuagint some 78 of these instances are in the Book of Psalms. In the great majority of instances in the Book of Psalms, some 67 in all, it occurs in the titles of the Psalms. In three of the seven instances in the New Testament the word is unmistakably used with reference to the Psalms, in two instances in the phrase the "Book of Psalms" (biblos psalmon) and in the other instance with reference to the second Psalm. It is surely significant, therefore, that in some 70 of the 94 instances the reference is clearly to the Book of Psalms or to Psalms in the Book of Psalms.

The word humnos (hymn) occurs some 19 times in the Greek Bible, 17 (?) times in the Old Testament and 2 times in the New (in the passages under consideration). Of the 17 Old Testament instances 13 occur in the Book of Psalms and 6 of these are in the titles. In the seven instances not occurring in the titles the reference is in each case to the praise of God, or to the songs of Sion. The other four instances in the other books of the Old Testament have likewise reference to the songs of praise to God.

of Sion. The other four instances in the other books of the Old Testament have likewise reference to the songs of praise to God. The word, odee (song) occurs some 86 times in the Greek Bible, some 80 times in the Old Testament and 6 times in the New. Apart from these two passages (Eph. 5:19; Col. 3:16), it occurs in the New Testament only in the Book of Revelation. Of the 80 occurrences in the Old Testament some 45 are in the Book of Psalms and 36 of these are in the titles of the Psalms.

It is surely apparent, therefore, how large a proportion of the occurrences of these words is in the Book of Psalms. These facts of themselves do not prove that the reference here in Eph. 5:19; Col. 3:16 is to the Book of Psalms exclusively. But these facts must not be forgotten as we proceed to determine the character of the lyrical compositions mentioned in these two texts.

exclusively. But these facts must not be forgotten as we proceed to determine the character of the lyrical compositions mentioned in these two texts. (3) In the New Testament the word **psalmos** occurs seven times, as was just stated. Two of these instances are in the texts we are considering. One of these instances is I Cor. 14:26, a text dealt with already. Two instances (Luke 20:42; Acts 1:20) refer to the Book of Psalms (biblos psalmon). Luke 24:44 clearly refers to Old Testament inspired Scripture and probably to the Book of Psalms. Acts 13:33 refers to the second Psalm. In none of these instances is there any warrant for supposing that "psalms" refer to uninspired human compositions. In the majority, without the least shadow of doubt, the reference is to inspired Scripture.

In the New Testament the word humnos occurs only in these two passages. The verb humneo (to hymn) occurs four times (Matt. 26:30; Mark 14:26, Acts 16:25; Heb. 2:12). As we found already, the synoptic passages most probably refer to the singing of the Hallel by our Lord and His disciples. Acts 16:25 refers to the singing of Paul and Silas in prison. Hebrews 2:12 is a quotation from the Old Testament (Ps. 22:23) — en meso ekklesias humneso se. No evidence whatsoever can be adduced from the usage in support of the

use of uninspired hymns.

Apart from these two instances the word odee occurs in the New Testament only in Rev. 5:9; 14:3(2); 15:3.

From the New Testament, then, no evidence can be derived to show that these words may be used here (Eph. 5:19; Col. 3:16) with reference to unin-spired songs. Even though odee is used in the Book of Revelation with reference to songs other than those in the Book of Psalms it is not used there with refer-

(4) We now come to the consideration of some facts which are even more significant than those already discussed. The Book of Psalms is composed of psalms, hymns and songs. We have already found that the overwhelming majority of the instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of these words in both Testaments has reference to the more instances of the mo the Book of Psalms. We now come to the discussion of the meaning of these words in the titles of the Psalms.

In the Septuagint psalmos occurs some 67 times in the titles to the Psalms. In most cases it is the translation of the Hebrew mismor, but in a few cases it translates other Hebrew words. Psalmos means simply "song of praise." The frequency with which the word psalmos occurs in the titles is probably the reason why the Book of Psalms is called in the LXX version simply psalmoi. In the Hebrew it is called tehillim.

It is perfectly obvious, therefore, that the New Testament writers, familiar as they were with the Old Testament in Greek, would necessarily have the Book of Psalms in mind when they used this word psalmos. There is no other piece of evidence that even begins to take on the significance for the meaning of the word "psalm" in the New Testament that this simple fact takes on, namely, that the Book of Psalms was called simply "Psalms" (psalmoi). The usage of the New Testament itself puts this beyond all doubt. There the Psalms are called the Book of Psalms.

There is nothing in the context of these two passages requiring us to regard "psalms" as referring to uninspired compositions. On the other hand, gard "psalms" as referring to uninspired compositions. On the other hand, there are abundant instances in the usage of Scripture elsewhere which show that the word "psalm" refers to an inspired composition. Furthermore, there is no instance in which the word "psalm," as used with reference to a song of praise to God, can be shown to refer to an uninspired song. It is therefore quite unwarranted to regard "psalms" in these two passages as referring to un-inspired songs, whereas there is abundant warrant for regarding them as de-noting inspired compositions. Consequently, if we are to follow the line of the evidence provided by the Scripture, we are forced to find the "psalms" here mentioned within the limits of inspiration.

As we found, the word humnos appears some 17 times in the Septuagint version. In thirteen cases it appears in the Book of Psalms. In five or six cases it appears in the titles of the Psalms as the translation of the Hebrew neginoth or neginah. It is significant that on several occasions in the text of the Psalms humos translates the Hebrew word tehillah which is the word used to designate the Book of Psalms in the Hebrew. This shows that psalms may be called hymns and hymns are psalms. Psalms and hymns are not exclusive of one another. A psalm may be not only a psalm but also a hymn. These facts show that when, in the usage of Scripture, we look for the type of composition meant by a "hymn," we find it in the Psalms. And we have

no evidence whatsoever that a hymn, in the usage of Scripture, ever designates. an uninspired human composition.

The word odee occurs much more frequently in the titles of the Psalms than does the word odec occurs much more frequently in the titles of the Fsains than does the word humnos, but not as frequently as does the word psalmos. There are some 36 instances. It usually translates the Hebrew word shir but not al-ways. Occasionally it is the translation of mismor, the word generally trans-lated by psalmos. Odec occurs so frequently in the titles of the psalms that its meaning would be definitely influenced by that usage. The conclusion to which we are driven then is that the frequency with which there words even in that head of the Old Testament that is unique in this re-

these words occur in that book of the Old Testament that is unique in this respect that it is a collection of songs composed at various times and by various inspired writers, the book that stands out distinctively and uniquely as composed of psalms, hymns and songs, would tend most definitely to fix the meaning of these words in the usage of the inspired writers. The case is simply this that beyond all dispute there is no other datum that compares with the significance of the language of the Septuagint in the resolution of this question. When taken of the language of the Septuagint in the resolution of this question. When taken in conjunction with the only positive evidence we have in the New Testament the evidence leads preponderantly to the conclusion that when Paul wrote "psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs" he would expect the minds of his readers to think of what were, in the terms of Scripture itself, "psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs," namely, the Book of Psalms. (5) The evidence does not warrant the conclusion that the apostle meant by "psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs" to designate three distinct groups or types of lurical compositions. It is significant in this connection that in a

meant by "psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs" to designate three distinct groups or types of lyrical compositions. It is significant in this connection that in a few cases in the titles of the Psalms all three of these words occur. In many cases the words "psalm" and "song" occur in the same title. This shows that a lyrical composition may be a psalm, hymn and song at the same time. The words, of course, have their own distinctive meanings and such dis-tinctive meanings may intimate the variety and richness of the materials of song the apostle has in mind. Paul uses three words that in the established use of Scripture designate the rich variety of such lyrical compositions as

usage of Scripture designate the rich variety of such lyrical compositions as were suited for the worship of God in the service of song.

(6) Paul specifies the character of the songs as "Spiritual"-odais pneumatikais. If anything should be obvious from the use of the word pneupneumatikais. If anything should be obvious from the use of the word pneu-matikos in the New Testament it is that it has reference to the Holy Spirit and means, in such contexts as the present, "given by the Spirit." Its meaning is not at all, as Trench contends, "such as were composed by spiritual men, and moved in the sphere of spiritual things" (Synonyms, LXXVIII). It rather means, as Meyer points out, "proceeding from the Holy Spirit, as theopneustos" (Com. on Eph. 5:19). In this context the word would mean "indited by the Spirit," just as in I Corinthians 2:13 logois . . pneumatikois are "words in-spired by the Spirit" and "taught by the Spirit" (didaktois pneumatos). The question, of course, arises: why does the word pneumatikos qualify odais and not psalmois and humnois? A reasonable answer to this question is due that meumatikais qualifies all three datives and that its gender (fem) is due

odals and not psalmois and humnols? A reasonable answer to this question is that pneumatikais qualifies all three datives and that its gender (fem.) is due to attraction to the gender of the noun that is closest to it. Another distinct possibility, made particularly plausible by the omission of the copulative in Colossians 3:16, is that "Spiritual songs" are the genus of which "psalms" and "hymns" are the species. This is the view of Meyer, for example. On either of these assumptions the psalms, hymns and songs are all "Spirit-ual" and therefore all inspired by the Holy Spirit. The bearing of this upon the question at issue is perfectly apparent. Uninspired hymns are immediately excluded

excluded.

But we shall have to allow for the distinct possibility that the word "Spiritual," in the grammatical structure of the clause, is confined to the word "songs." On this hypothesis the "songs" are characterized as "Spiritual," and therefore characterized as inspired or indited by the Holy Spirit. This, at least, should be abundantly clear.

The question would arise then: is it merely the "songs" that need to be inspired while the "psalms" and "hymns" may be uninspired? The asking of the question shows the unreasonableness of such an hypothesis, especially when we bear in mind all that has already been shown with reference to the use of these words. On what conceivable ground would Paul have insisted that the "songs" needed to be divinely inspired while the "psalms" and "hymns" did not need to be? In the usage of Scripture there was no hard and fast line of distinction between psalms and hymns, on the one hand, and songs on the other. It would be quite impossible to find any good ground for such discrimination in the apostolic prescription.

The unreasonableness of such a supposition appears all the more conclusive when we remember the Scripture usage with respect to the word "psalms." There is not the least bit of evidence to suppose that in such usage on the part of the apostle "psalm" could mean an uninspired human composition. All the evidence, rather, goes to establish the opposite conclusion.

We see then that psalms are inspired. Songs are inspired because they are characterized as "Spiritual." What then about the hymns? May they be uninspired? As already indicated, it would be an utterly unreasonable hypothesis to maintain that the apostle would require that songs be inspired while psalms and hymns might not. This becomes all the more cogent when we recognize, as we have established, that the psalms and songs were inspired. It would indeed be strange discrimination if hymns might be uninspired and psalms and songs inspired. But it would be strange to the point of absurdity if Paul should be supposed to insist that songs had to be inspired but hymns not. For what distinction can be drawn between a hymn and a song that would make it requisite for the latter to be inspired while the former might not be? We, indeed, cannot be sure that there is any distinction so far as actual denotation is concerned. Even if we do maintain the distinct colour of each word there is no discoverable reason why so radical a distinction as that between inspiration and non-inspiration could be maintained.

The only conclusion we can arrive at then is that "hymns" in Eph. 5:19; Col. 3:16 must be accorded the same "Spiritual" quality as is accorded to "psalms" by obvious implication and to "songs" by express qualification, and that this was taken for granted by the apostle, either because the word "Spiritual" would be regarded as qualifying all three words, or because "Spiritual songs" were the genus of which "psalms" and "hymns" were the species, or because in the usage of the church "hymns" like "psalms" would be recognized in their own right and because of the context in which they are mentioned to be in no other category, as respects their "Spiritual" quality, than the category occupied by psalms and songs.

In reference to these two passages, then, we are compelled to conclude:

(a) There is no warrant for thinking that "psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs" can refer to uninspired human compositions. These texts provide us with no authorization whatsoever for the singing of uninspired songs in the worship of God.

(b) There is warrant for concluding that "psalms, hymns and Spiritual songs" refer to inspired compositions. These texts provide us, therefore, with warrant for the singing of inspired songs in the worship of God.

(c) The Book of Psalms provides us with psalms, hymns and songs that are inspired and therefore with the kind of compositions referred to in Eph. 5:19; Col. 3:16.

General Conclusions

This survey of the evidence derived from Scripture shows, in the judgment of the minority, that there is no evidence from Scripture that can be adduced to warrant the singing of uninspired human compositions in the public worship

(64)

of God. The report of the committee maintains that we do have warrant for the use of such songs. The minority is well aware of the plausibility of the arguments of the committee, to wit, the argument drawn from the analogy of prayer and the argument drawn from the necessity of expanding the content of song to keep pace with the expansion of the revelation given in the New Testament. The former of these arguments has been dealt with in the earlier part of this report. The latter is much more cogent. There are, however, two considerations that require to be mentioned by way of answer.

(i) We have no evidence either from the Old Testament or from the New that the expansion of revelation received expression in the devotional exercises of the church through the singing of uninspired songs of praise. This is a fact that cannot be discounted. If we possessed evidence that in the Old Testament period the church gave expression to revelation as it progressed by the singing of uninspired songs in the worship of God, then the argument from analogy would be rather conclusive, especially in view of the relative silence of the New Testament. But no evidence has been produced to prove the use of uninspired songs in the worship of the New Testament could be adduced, then the argument of the committee would be established. But the very cases adduced by the committee to show that there was an expansion of song in the New Testament do not show that uninspired songs were employed. Hence we are compelled to conclude that, since there is no evidence to show the use of uninspired songs in the practice of the church in the New Testament, the argument of the committee connot plead authorization from the Scriptures. The church of God must in this matter, as in all other matters concerned with the actual content of worship, confine itself to the limits of Scripture authorization, and it is the contention of the use of uninspired songs in the public worship of God.

The argument of the committee that "the New Testament deals with conditions in the early church which have not been continued and which cannot be our present norm" fails to take due account of the normative character of Scripture. It is true that we today do not have the gift of inspiration and, therefore, we cannot compose inspired songs. But the Scripture does prescribe' for us the way in which we are to worship God in the conditions that are permanent in the church. And since the Scripture does warrant and prescribe the use of inspired songs but does not warrant the use of uninspired songs, we are to restrict ourselves to those inspired materials made available to us by the Scripture itself. In other words, the Scripture does not provide us with any warrant for the exercising of those gifts the church now possesses in the composition of the actual content of song.

(ii) If the argument drawn from the expansion of revelation is applied within the limits of Scripture authorization, then the utmost that can be established is the use of New Testament songs or of New Testament materials adapted to singing. Principially the minority is not jealous to insist that New Testament songs may not be used in the worship of God. What we are most jealous to maintain is that Scripture does authorize the use of inspired songs, that is, Scripture songs, and that the singing of other than Scripture songs in the worship of God has no warrant from the Word of God and is therefore forbidden.

On the basis of these studies the minority respectfully submits to the Fourteenth General Assembly the following conclusions:

1. There is no warrant in Scripture for the use of uninspired human compositions in the singing of God's praise in public worship.

2. There is explicit authority for the use of inspired songs.

3. The songs of divine worship must therefore be limited to the songs of Scripture, for they alone are inspired.

(65)

The Book of Psalms does provide us with the kind of compositions for which we have the authority of Scripture.

5. We are therefore certain of divine sanction and approval in the singing of the Psalms.

6. We are not certain that other inspired songs were intended to be sung in the worship of God, even though the use of other inspired songs does not violate the fundamental principle on which Scripture authorization is explicit, namely, the use of inspired songs.

7. In view of uncertainty with respect to the use of other inspired songs, we should confine ourselves to the Book of Psalms.

Respectfully submitted, JOHN MURRAY WILLIAM YOUNG

The motion carried that both these reports, together with the report sub-mitted to the Thirteenth General Assembly, be referred to the Fifteenth Gen-eral Assembly, and that these reports be submitted to presbyteries and sessions for earnest study during the ensuing year, with a view to more thorough con-sideration at the Fifteenth General Assembly.

The Report of the Committee on Sickness and Hospital Benefits was read by Mr. Price and is as follows:

REPORT OF THE

COMMITTEE TO STUDY SICKNESS AND HOSPITAL INSURANCE

Fathers and Brethren:

The Committee on Sickness and Hospital Benefits, appointed by the Thirteenth General Assembly, reports that it has investigated a portion of the field assigned to it, and has sought to evaluate the information.

There are two ways in which a person or family may be insured as protection against sickness or hospitalization:

(1) By individual policies, and (2) by group policies. There would be certain advantages to a group policy, but your committee is certain that this assembly cannot without prolonged discussion decide to enter a group policy. Therefore, the Committee informs the Assembly that it is its opinion that

if any ministers wish sickness and hospital benefits during the ensuing year they should take out an individual Health and Accident Policy, with hospital rider, with the Ministers Life and Casuality Union, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Your Committee will see that literature concerning these policies will be sent to each minister in the Church.

The Committee recommends that it be continued and instructed to send information concerning group policies to commissioners not later than February 1st, 1948.

Respectfully submitted, JOHN P. GALBRAITH, Convenor JAMES W. PRICE

It was moved and carried that the recommendation be adopted as amended, that the committee be continued and instructed to send information concerning group policies to commissioners not later than February 1, 1948 and the committee be directed to report to the Fifteenth General Assembly. The Report of the Committee on General Assembly Representation was read

by Mr. Bradford, convener. The report is as follows:

(66)